
 
 
Democratic Services Section    
Legal and Civic Services Department 
Belfast City Council 
City Hall 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS 
 
 
 
11th January, 2022 
 
MEETING OF PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
Dear Alderman/Councillor, 

 

The above-named Committee will meet Remotely via Teams on Tuesday, 11th January, 

2022 at 5.15 pm, for the transaction of the business noted below. 

 

You are requested to attend. 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
SUZANNE WYLIE 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA: 
 
1. Routine Matters   
 
 (a) Apologies   

 
 (b) Minutes   

 
 (c) Declarations of Interest   

 
2. Restricted   
 
 (a) Revenue Estimates and District Rate 2022/23  (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
 (b) Verbal Update on Impact of Covid   

 
 (c) Resources and Fleet Update (Waste Collections and Management)  (Pages 9 

- 70) 
 

 (d) Update on Strategic Cemetery and Crematorium Development  (Pages 71 - 
76) 

 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
- 2 - 

3. Matters referred back from the Council/Motions   
 
 (a) Item referred back - Erection of Dual Language Street Sign at Clifton Street  

(Pages 77 - 80) 
 

4. Committee/Strategic Issues   
 
 (a) Avian Influenza Waterworks Park  (Pages 81 - 84) 

 
5. Operational Issues   
 
 (a) WRAP Better Recycling Campaign Grant Scheme  (Pages 85 - 86) 

 
 (b) Belfast's Buzzing  (Pages 87 - 92) 

 
 (c) Update on education around responsible dog ownership  (Pages 93 - 98) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Document is Restricted

Page 1

Agenda Item 2a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 9

Agenda Item 2c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Sustainability at the heart of a living, working, active landscape valued by everyone.

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use 

Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Page 27



Page 2

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Contents

	 Ministers Foreword								        3

	 1.	 Introduction and background						      5

		  1.1.	 Purpose of the consultation					     5

		  1.2.	 Strategic context							       5

		  1.3.	 Drivers and evidence for change					     6

		  1.4.	 Scope									        7

		  1.5.	 Policy options							       8

		  1.6.	 How would a proposed levy be used?				    8

	 2.	 Methodology								        9

		  2.1.	 Impact Assessment methodology					    9

		  2.2.	 General questions on approach					     11

		  2.3.	 Materials in scope							       11

			   2.3.1.	 SUP beverage cups						     11

			   2.3.2.	 SUP food containers					     12

			   2.3.3.	 Materials in scope questions				    13

	 3.	 Results									         14

		  3.1.	 SUP Beverage cups							      14

			   3.1.1	 Ban								        18

			   3.1.2	 Levy								        19

			   3.1.3	 Voluntary retailer-led scheme				    20

		  3.2	 SUP food containers						      21

			   3.2.1	 Ban								        26

			   3.2.2	 Levy								        27

			   3.2.3	 Voluntary retailer-led scheme				    29

		  3.3	 Preferred approach							       30

		  3.4	 Administration and enforcement					     31

	 4	 Summary and conclusion						      33

	 5	 How to respond to this consultation					     33

		  5.1 After the consultation							       33

Page 28



Page 3

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Minister’s Foreword

It was a little over 10 years ago as then Minister for the Environment 
that I announced that my Department would introduce a levy on carrier 
bags. I had hoped that a voluntary approach by industry would achieve 
the reduction we wished to see but sadly that did not prove to be the 
case. I remember only too well back then that you couldn’t go very 
far at all without seeing discarded plastic bags hanging from trees, in 
hedgerows or lying on grass verges. They were a real scourge in our 
towns and on our beautiful Northern Ireland countryside. I am pleased 
to note that because of the carrier bag levy that I proposed this sight is 
far less common now following a huge reduction in “throw away” carrier bags.

However, even though many littered bags have disappeared the plastic hasn’t. Because we rely 
so much on single-use plastic, every year in Northern Ireland we use over 70 million single-use 
plastic cups and around 150 million single-use plastic takeaway food containers that are simply 
discarded. What a waste!

Sadly, drinks cups and takeaway food containers made with single-use plastics are a new 
litter scourge. Recent surveys on behalf of my Department estimate that around 1 million 	
single-use cups and food containers end up as unsightly litter around our countryside annually. 
Unfortunately the blight doesn’t stop at the unsightly nature of this litter. It ends up in our 
waterways and ultimately in our seas with a further ¾ million of these items estimated to make 
their way into the sea each year. It may be out of sight but it doesn’t go away. Plastic from 
decades ago remains in our environment today and over the years we have continued to add to 
that mounting reservoir of littered plastic. 

The NI Executive recognised this problem in the New Decade, New Approach agreement and 
gave me as Agriculture, Environment and Rural affairs Minister the task of creating a plan to do 
something about it. I am already addressing the collection and recycling of used plastics through 
co-operating with my UK colleagues on proposed reform to Extended Producer Responsibility 
and the creation of a Deposit Return Scheme. In June 2021 I also launched a Call for Evidence 
to help inform the development of a plan to eliminate plastic pollution in Northern Ireland.

Page 29



Page 4

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

I believe we need to promote alternatives to single-use plastics which is why I am introducing 
this consultation to look specifically at reducing plastic pollution from takeaway litter. In the 
consultation my department has suggested three options for plastic items: an outright ban; a 
levy along the lines of the Carrier Bag Levy; and a voluntary reduction approach. These options 
would result in a range of outcomes in terms of impact and how quickly a reduction in plastic can 
be achieved. If you share with me my concern for reducing plastic pollution I encourage you to 
respond to this consultation. We would like your feedback on the optimum solution.

Edwin Poots MLA

Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs

Page 30



Page 5

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

1.	 Introduction and background

1.1.	 Purpose of the consultation
This consultation presents options on the reduction of the consumption of single-use plastic 
(SUP) beverage cups and food containers in Northern Ireland (NI), with the aim of effecting a 
substantial reduction in the number of SUP beverage cups and food containers in circulation.  
The Department aims to encourage a more sustainable environment and circular economy for 
everyone across NI and the reduction in usage of all SUP beverage cups and food containers is 
a central building block of these targets. 

The Department is seeking stakeholders’ views on the suggested policy options to ensure the 
most effective method of reducing the consumption of SUP beverage cups and food containers 
is found. The results of this consultation will be used to determine the best policy options which 
may help to frame possible measures to promote the reduction in SUP items.

The goal of the policies is to reduce the use of the targeted types of SUP packaging, by 
encouraging wider take up of multi-use (MU) and/or single-use non-plastic (SUNP) alternatives.

1.2.	Strategic context
Northern Ireland’s environment is our most important asset and it is crucial to members of 
the public that we continue to protect and enhance it. The NI Executive’s Programme for 
Government, Outcome 2 - we live and work sustainably, protecting the environment, aims to put 
a healthy environment at the heart of future Government policies whilst maintaining sustainable 
economic growth. In the ‘New Decade, New approach’ document the NI Executive gave a 
commitment to prepare a plan to eliminate plastic pollution. These proposals are an important 
element in delivering on this commitment, as any changes to encourage the reduction of SUP 
beverage cups and food containers will deliver a decrease in the use of some of the most 
harmful plastics. 

DAERA joined the UK Plastics Pact in July 20201. The Pact is a trailblazing, collaborative 
initiative, delivered by WRAP (the Waste and Resources Action Programme) in partnership 
with the Ellen MacArthur Foundation. The initiative is unique because it unites governments, 
local authorities, non-government organisations (NGOs) and businesses involved in producing, 
selling, collecting and reprocessing plastic, to deliver ambitious targets for change by 2025. The 
overall aim of the Pact is to support the delivery of the UK Government’s target of achieving zero 
avoidable plastic waste by end of 2042. These proposals assist DAERA in meeting the aims of 
the Pact. 

In 2020 WRAP published the results of a survey of citizens’ attitudes and behaviours associated 
with plastic packaging. The survey included responses from residents in Northern Ireland. The 
‘Plastic packaging waste: Understanding existing citizen behaviours, attitudes and openness 

1	 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/news/daera-joins-uk-plastics-pact

Page 31

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/news/daera-joins-uk-plastics-pact


Page 6

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

to change’ report2 found that citizens are concerned about plastic packaging, particularly its 
potential impact on the marine environment and as litter.

While not focused specifically on single-use beverage cups or SUP food containers, the survey 
found that there was an understanding that governments, retailers, and brands had taken action 
to address plastic waste but there was still more that could be done. 

Three quarters of all respondents said that there are things they personally could do to tackle 
plastic waste. When asked what actions they currently take, recycling all that they can was the 
most frequent response. Beyond recycling, the report found that some action is happening to 
reduce plastic consumption but that it is limited to the most engaged, and driven by a range of 
motivating factors. The report also concluded that plastic waste reduction behaviours could be 
simpler and often require facilitation by others, including governments, retailers, and brands.

1.3.	Drivers and evidence for change
The high functionality and relatively low cost of plastic means that this material is increasingly 
used in everyday life. While plastic plays a useful role and provides essential applications 
in many sectors, it’s increasing use in short-lived applications, which are not designed for 	
re-use or cost-effective recycling, means that related production and consumption patterns have 
become increasingly inefficient and linear. The steady increase in plastic waste generation and 
the leakage of plastic waste into the environment, in particular into the marine environment, 
must be tackled in order to achieve a circular life cycle for plastics. The significant negative 
environmental, health and economic impact of certain plastic products calls for the setting up of 
a specific framework to effectively reduce those negative effects. 

For some SUP products, suitable and more sustainable alternatives are not yet readily available 
and the consumption of such SUP products is expected to increase over time if action is not 
taken. The primary objective of the Department for this consultation is to influence customer 
behaviour to promote a significant reduction in usage of SUP beverage cups and food 
containers. 

Across the Northern Ireland retail sector many retailers have already taken steps to reduce 
the use of SUP beverage cups by offering alternatives at point of sale or incentives to use 
MU cups. Several retailers have also moved from SUP food containers to ones deemed 
more environmentally friendly. Unfortunately there are unclear outcomes from these changes 
as in many cases the infrastructure to process these ‘better’ alternatives is likely to remain 
unavailable while the variety of single-use containers and beverage cups e.g. compostable and 
non-compostable continue to co-exist. While some actions to date are to be commended and 
it is clear that progress has been made in reducing the use of SUP beverage cups and food 
containers, further proactive and preventative action must be taken to continue to reduce usage 
to protect our natural environment.

2	 �https://wrap.org.uk/resources/report/plastic-packaging-waste-understanding-existing-citizen-behaviours-attitudes

Page 32

https://wrap.org.uk/resources/report/plastic-packaging-waste-understanding-existing-citizen-behaviours-attitudes


Page 7

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

WRAP’s ‘Drinks Recycling On-the-Go’ (2019) report notes that the majority of take-away hot 
drink cups (85%) were reported to be disposed of away from home, and only 11% disposed of 
at home3. Take-away beverage containers all contain a plastic layer which makes them difficult 
to recycle through household recycling collection services. The plastic content of beverage 
containers has the potential to contaminate otherwise clean collected paper and card. Council 
recycling services in Northern Ireland do not accept single-use beverage containers.

Keep Northern Ireland Beautiful (KNIB) carried out Northern Ireland’s first Litter Composition 
Survey in 2019. This DAERA-funded analysis identified that, at any one time, there are an 
estimated 600,000 items of packaging litter on the streets of Northern Ireland. Of this, 31,841 
items, or 5.2%, were calculated to be single-use cups containing plastic, and 19,982 items, or 
3.3%, were calculated to be plastic food packaging4.

These findings are supported by the results of KNIB’s annual litter and marine litter surveys5. 
The 2020 Marine Litter Report6 notes that 67% of all observed litter was plastic, and KNIB’s litter 
survey (June to August 2020) found an increase in the littering of SUP packaging and cutlery.  

1.4.	Scope
The consultation considers the range of SUP beverage cups and food containers which are 
available. To give an indication of scope, a list of beverage cups and food containers which 
would be included in the proposals is included in the Scoping Document, provided alongside this 
report.

Definition of beverage cups for purposes of the consultation:

	 Cups for beverages, including their covers and lids.

These might include take-away coffee cups and lids, or milkshake cups and covers, for example.

Definition of food containers for purposes of the consultation:

	� Food containers, i.e. receptacles such as boxes, with or without a cover, used to contain 
food which:

	 (a) is intended for immediate consumption, either on-the-spot or take-away,

	 (b) is typically consumed from the receptacle, and

	� (c) is ready to be consumed without any further preparation, such as cooking, boiling or 
heating, including food containers used for fast food or other meal ready for immediate 

3	 https://wrap.org.uk/resources/report/drinks-recycling-go

4	� Figures calculated from the final data tables of the KNIB LCA report, and can be calculated from the published report. 
https://keepnorthernirelandbeautiful.etinu.net/keepnorthernirelandbeautiful/documents/008087.pdf 

5	  �https://www.keepnorthernirelandbeautiful.org/cgi-bin/generic?instanceID=48

6	 https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/litter-beaches-northern-ireland

Page 33

https://wrap.org.uk/resources/report/drinks-recycling-go
https://keepnorthernirelandbeautiful.etinu.net/keepnorthernirelandbeautiful/documents/008087.pdf
 https://www.keepnorthernirelandbeautiful.org/cgi-bin/generic?instanceID=48
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/publications/litter-beaches-northern-ireland


Page 8

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

consumption, except beverage containers, plates and packets and wrappers containing 
food.

The food containers have then been divided into two scopes, Scope 1 and Scope 2, illustrated in 
the Scoping Document. 

	 • �Scope 1 includes food containers that are filled at point of sale (e.g. plastic trays for 
chips, plastic boxes used at salad bars). Consumers would have a choice here to use a 
SUP food container or use an alternative.

	 • �Scope 2 includes pre-filled SUP food containers, used for pre-packaged, prepared 
foods in shops (e.g. a pre-packaged sandwich, salad bowl or prepared fruit box). 
Consumers would therefore not have an alternative option when purchasing their food.

It is proposed that only Scope 1 food containers should be included within the ambit of the 
policies at the moment. The rationale for this is that in the case of Scope 2 food containers (a) 
the consumer has no opportunity to choose to have the food put into a multi-use container and 
thereby avoid the impact of the policy, and (b) SUNP alternatives are not readily available to 
producers/retailers in all cases. For further detail on Scope 1 and 2 rationales, see ‘Northern 
Ireland Single-Use Plastic Data Final Report’ provided alongside this report.

1.5.	Policy options
The primary objective of the proposals is to influence customer behaviour to promote a 
significant reduction in usage of SUP beverage cups and food containers. The Department 
worked with WRAP to consider a range of proposals and identify the most effective options for 
a sustained and substantial reduction in the use of SUP beverage cups and food containers. 
These options are summarised below and the consultation seeks your views on these proposals.

Three policies are modelled for both SUP beverage cups and food containers:

	 • A ban on their use;

	 • A levy of 25p on each cup and 50p on each food container; and

	 • �A voluntary scheme or schemes implemented by businesses that make use of SUP 
cups or food containers, which may comprise a range of charges for cups/food 
containers, discounts for MU cups/food containers and communication efforts. This is 
modelled as having the same effect as a 10p levy for a beverage cup and 25p for a food 
container.

1.6.	How would a proposed levy be used?
The proceeds of any levy will be collected and processed by DAERA and used to both promote 
and sustain the wider NI environmental sector. 

Page 34



Page 9

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

The levy will be reinvested to support a broad range of local and country wide environmental 
projects, supporting small, medium, and large projects funded through the NI Environment 
Fund, which enables not for profit organisations and councils to deliver key environmental 
interventions. 

2.	 Methodology

2.1.	 Impact Assessment methodology
In order to conduct the impact assessment a mathematical model was created in order to assess 
each of the proposed policy options. The model creates a range of scenarios based on each of 
the policy options and compares these to a baseline ‘do nothing’ scenario. The scenarios include 
measures of plastic waste prevented, cup/food container sales, money raised from any levies, 
final destination of disposed containers and many other parameters.

The model consists of three layers:

	 • �A bottom layer where the demand for SUP, SUNP and MU containers is forecasted in 
a series of scenarios. Outputting a year-by-year prediction of the number of beverage 
cups/food containers used and discarded.

	 • �A middle layer which matches the demand scenarios with a range of user-specified 
parameters. This defines the total number of beverage cups/food containers estimated 
in the bottom layer in terms of material of construction, how may fall in each scope, the 
method of disposal, and the final destination of the containers.

	 • �A top layer which compares the results of the various scenarios to the baseline 
scenario.

The main purpose of the model is to create scenarios for each of the policy options which can 
then be compared against a baseline (and each other). The model allows for various factors to 
be used as comparisons encompassing various indicators of plastic waste and use, as well as 
other factors such as money raised in levies.

See ‘An Introduction to the Single-use Plastics Assessment Framework’ document, provided 
alongside this report, for the full introduction to the Single-Use Plastics Assessment Framework.

The model work based on a set of policy definitions using data gathered from various sources 
for entry into the various layers of the model. Where appropriate data could not be found 
assumptions had to be made instead. See ‘Northern Ireland Single-Use Plastic Data Final 
Report’ for the full list of assumptions, data and policy definitions.

Page 35



Page 10

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Assumptions were made on the supply and productions costs, manufacturing costs, demand 
for containers, disposal routes, and volumetric data. Key assumptions were on when SUNP 
containers would become available, the cost for MU food containers, the likelihood of disposal 
for multi-use items per year, the % of beverage cups and food containers in the scope of the 
policy, and how each of the policies would affect demand for beverage cups and food containers.

An example set of results from the model is the number of containers disposed each year by 
disposal route. Table 1 shows the baseline (2021) estimated number of SUP cups by collection 
method covering large, and Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SME) businesses, also 
splitting out the number in the health care sector which were considered exempt. The figures in 
Table 1 are the baseline SUP cup collection figures which future years are built off.

Table 1: Number of SUP Cups Collected by Method

Business size Household 
collection

Commercial 
collection

Street 
collection

Litter Total

Large 6,714,635 30,097,897 10,743,416 6,887,038  54,442,986 

SME 1,046,437 4,690,581 1,674,299 1,073,305 8,484,621 

Large – excluded 7,071 671,699 21,212 7,071 707,052 

SME – excluded 70,705 6,716,992 212,116 70,705 7,070,518 

Table 2 shows the baseline (2021) estimated number of Scope 1 and Scope 2 SUP food 
containers by collection method covering large and SME businesses, also splitting out the 
number in the health care sector which were considered exempt. The figures in Table 2 are the 
baseline SUP food container collection figures which future years are built off.

Table 2: Number of SUP FCs Collected by Method

Inclusion Business 
size

Household 
collection

Commercial 
collection

Street 
collection

Litter Total

Scope 1*

Large 3,532,431 7,064,861 2,119,458 1,412,972 14,129,722 

SME 3,532,431 7,064,861 2,119,458 1,412,972 14,129,722 

Scope 2

Large 10,173,400 55,105,917 12,716,750 6,782,267 84,778,335 

SME 1,526,010  8,265,888 1,907,513 1,017,340 12,716,750 

Exempt

Large 14,130 1,342,324 42,389 14,130 1,412,972 

SME 141,297 13,423,236 423,892 141,297 14,129,722 

*�Scope 1 large and SME business have the same values as each is estimated to be 50% of 
Scope 1 food containers

Page 36



Page 11

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

2.2.	General questions on approach
The proposed policies could affect business of all sizes in Northern Ireland from large 
multinationals to small local businesses. The size of the organisation affected could alter the 
potential impact. As such it is important to carefully consider the scope of which organisations 
should be affected by these proposed policies.

What size of businesses should the proposed policies apply to? (select all that apply)
Small (1-49 employees)
Medium (50-249 employees)
Large (250+ employees)
None of the above

The potential polices selected for this consultation are broad and have seen use elsewhere 
however, they are not completely exhaustive. Other potential policies may exist that could also 
achieve the stated policy aims.

Are you aware of any other policy options, not including those already listed, that would be 
suitable to achieve the stated policy aims?

Yes
No

If ‘yes’ please explain

2.3.	Materials in scope
2.3.1.	 SUP beverage cups

Three policies are modelled for SUP cups:

	 • �A ban on their use, which could be implemented fully immediately or phased in over a 
period of time giving companies time to adapt;

	 • A levy of 25p on each cup; and

	 • �A voluntary scheme or schemes implemented by businesses that make use of SUP 
cups, which may comprise a range of charges for cups, discounts for MU cups and 
communication efforts. This is modelled as having the same effect as a 10p levy.

It is proposed that the levy should take the form of a charge that is visible to the consumer - so it 
would be shown on menus, receipts or similar. For the ban and the levy, the policy would provide 

Page 37



Page 12

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

for an exemption for uses in the healthcare sector, where SUP items may be needed for the 
purpose of infection control. No exemption is needed within the context of a voluntary scheme.

2.3.2.	SUP food containers

Three policies are also modelled for Scope 1 SUP food containers. As defined, the policy 
options applied to Scope 1 food containers are broadly similar to those modelled for cups:

	 • �A ban on their use, which could be implemented fully immediately or phased in over a 
period of time giving companies time to adapt;

	 • A levy of 50p on each SUP food container; and

	 • �A voluntary scheme or schemes implemented by businesses that make use of SUP 
food containers, which may comprise a range of charges for food containers, discounts 
for consumers who use MU food containers and communication efforts. This is 
modelled as having the same effect as a 25p levy.

The proposed levy is higher than that proposed for a SUP beverage cup, because although 
the value of foodstuffs sold in SUP food containers varies considerably, a meal sold in a food 
container may often be of significantly higher value than a cup of tea or coffee, making the 
impact of a 25p levy proportionately smaller. 

There is an exemption for Scope 1 food containers used in the healthcare sector, and in 
the current modelling Scope 2 food containers have not been included as explained in the 
introduction.

Which of following items, if any, should be included within the scope of proposed policy 
measures? (select all that apply) 

Plastic single-use cups
Card single-use cups lined with plastic
Takeaway food containers (food containers provided with meals purchased to take 
off the premises) – Scope 1
Pre-filled food containers – Scope 2
Self-fill food containers (food containers that the customers fill themselves before 
purchase e.g. at a salad bar) – Scope 1
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

Page 38



Page 13

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Consumers have limited alternative options when purchasing food in pre-filled (Scope 2) 
containers. That is, the consumer does not have an option to make a purchase without the 
container. For this reason, it was not possible to model the impact of policies on pre-filled (Scope 
2) food containers, however, these are included within the scope of this consultation.

In your view is it practical to include pre-filled (Scope 2) plastic food containers, including those 
which are plastic-lined, within the scope of these policies?

Yes
No
Don’t Know

If ‘yes’ please explain

2.3.3.	 Materials in scope questions

The current proposed measures focus on plastics for the reasons outlined in the introduction. 
In the future further measures or updates to the proposed measures may expand to cover other 
materials.

In addition to plastic, should any other materials be included in future measures? (select all that 
apply)

Metal
Glass
Paper/card
None of the above
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

In the proposed measure the levy is applied at the point of purchase and targeted at consumers. 
This has been chosen as it maximises the visibility of the levy making sure the consumer is 
aware they are paying it and therefore increasing the chance of behaviour change. The levy 
could instead be placed on producers, this would mean the levy was less visible. Producers 
could still potentially pass the levy onto consumers, but the consumer would not see this as a 

Page 39



Page 14

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

separate cost but instead combined into the total.

If a levy were to be introduced, who should pay it, producers or consumers? (select one)
Producers
Consumers
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

3.	 Results

3.1.	 SUP Beverage cups
The Department worked with WRAP, in conjunction with Eunomia and Red Scientific, on an 
impact assessment (IA) to analyse the impact of each of the options. This was done by using a 
series of models to evaluate the impact of each option. 

Please note, the references to the voluntary scheme are made on the assumption that the 
majority of retailers would join the scheme and that the scheme has longevity. Any differences to 
these assumptions could undermine the effectiveness of a voluntary scheme.

The results of the impact assessment on the number of SUP beverage cups used per year up 
to 2035 are summarised in the line graph at Figure 1. The statistics assume that the ban, levy 

Figure 1

Page 40



Page 15

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

or voluntary scheme would begin 1 January 2022 for the purposes of modelling. They show that 
a ban would have the most immediate impact, with all SUP beverage cups phased out by 2026. 
A levy would have the next most effective reduction, with a drop of approximately 40 million 
cups used per year by 2022 and reducing to zero by 2035. This assumes the availability of 
alternatives which would lead to this decrease. The voluntary scheme follows a similar trajectory 
to the levy, but with a higher rate of usage of SUP beverage cups. The baseline (‘do nothing’) 
shows a gradual increase in number of SUP beverage cups used each year.

The overall number of cups used over the period until 2035 is summarised in Figure 2. The 
baseline or do nothing approach would mean almost 1.1 billion SUP beverage cups used by 
2035. The ban has the most impact on reducing SUP beverage cups, with 200 million cups 
being used in this period if a ban were to be introduced (this is taking into account a possible 
phased approach or lead-in time to a ban). The levy would lead to the usage of approximately 
400 million SUP beverage cups in the same period, whilst the voluntary scheme would mean a 
usage of approximately 500 million cups over the period. 

Figure 2

Page 41



Page 16

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

The IA also considered how each option impacted on land litter. Figure 3 shows that the ban has 
a significant impact on SUP land litter, reducing to zero by 2026. Once again, the levy is the next 
most effective scenario and meets the same levels of land litter from discarded SUP beverage 
cups as the ban by 2035. The voluntary scheme follows a similar trajectory to the levy, but with 
slightly higher levels of land litter. Whilst the baseline scenario sees land litter rise slightly.

Figure 4 shows total number of SUP beverage cups which would end up as land litter. Clearly, 
the ban has the biggest impact, with approximately 1 million SUP cups in land litter, compared to 
6.5 million cups if no action is taken. A levy would see just over 2 million SUP beverage cups as 
land litter and the voluntary scheme would result in almost 3 million cups littered.

Figure 3

Figure 4

Page 42



Page 17

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Figures 5 and 6 show the expected tonnage of marine litter from discarded SUP beverage cups 
over the period. Figure 5 gives a very similar picture to that of land litter, with the ban having the 
most immediate impact, the levy being next most effective, with the voluntary scheme following 
a less effective trajectory and all reaching the same level by 2035. Figure 6 similarly shows that 
the ban would have the biggest reduction in the number of SUP beverage cups finding their way 
into marine litter, closely followed by the levy and then the voluntary scheme.

Over its life span the IA predicts a levy would raise around £70 million pounds reaching a 
maximum of around £7.3 million in 2027 and falling to £0 in 2035 with the elimination of SUP 
cups. The ban and voluntary scheme policy options would raise no funds as they do not contain 
a levy element. 

Figure 5

Figure 6

Page 43



Page 18

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

A key assumption in the IA is the availability of single-use non plastic alternatives to SUP cups, 
especially the date at which they will become widely available. The model is particularly sensitive 
to the availability of these alternatives as it impacts when SUP beverage cup consumption 
can be replaced outside of the use of multiuse cups which are assumed to only be used by a 
minority of the population even in 2035.

In your view, if no policies or measures were to be introduced, what is the earliest date that the 
market might develop and supply single-use non-plastic cups? (select one)

They are already available
The market would not develop and supply single-use non-plastic cups
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026+
Don’t know
Other 

If ‘other’ please explain below

Please describe the single-use non-plastic cup that is already available. (Only answer if ‘they 
are already available’ was selected for the previous question)

3.1.1	 Ban

The government estimates that 4.7 billion plastic straws, 316 million plastic stirrers, and 1.8 billion 
plastic-stemmed cotton buds were used in England every year. Many of these items ended up 
discarded and polluting waterways and the ocean. The Department of Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (Defra) therefore introduced a ban on supplying plastic straws, plastic stirrers, and 
plastic-stemmed cotton buds in England on 1 October 2020. By banning these items, it was 
government’s aim to protect marine wildlife from these sources of avoidable plastic waste.

Page 44



Page 19

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

If a ban on SUP beverage cups were introduced in Northern Ireland, it could be introduced 
gradually, with SUP beverage cups phased out over a period of time. A single date for an outright 
ban could also be considered, to give all parties time to prepare.

If a ban were to be introduced on SUP beverage cups (including plastics or bioplastics) how 
should the ban be implemented? (select one)

Fully implemented from the outset
Phased in over 6 months
Phased in over 1 year
Other 

If ‘other’ please explain below

If a ban on were to be introduced on SUP beverage cups (including plastics or bioplastics) 
what year should a ban on SUP beverage cups be introduced? (select one)

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026+
Other 

If ‘other’ please explain below

3.1.2	 Levy

A levy could be introduced on all SUP beverage cups (as outlined in the Scoping Document). It 
is proposed that the levy should take the form of a charge that is visible to the consumer - so it 
would be shown on menus, receipts or similar. The levy would be introduced from a set date to 
be determined. From that date forwards, the levy would apply. Consumers could choose to pay 
the levy or opt instead to use a MU cup or SUNP alternative, provided by the retailer. The levy 
charge is suggested at 25p per SUP beverage cup. 

It is believed that the levy will encourage behaviour change, very much like the carrier bag levy 

Page 45



Page 20

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

has done. The carrier bag levy is a good example of the impact that can be made. Published 
annual usage statistics for the existing levy show that the introduction of the levy across NI in 
2013 had a significantly positive impact, reducing carrier bag use by 73.2% (in excess of 1.5 
billion bags) from the 2012 baseline figure of 300 million carrier bags.

If a levy were to be introduced on SUP beverage cups (including plastics or bioplastics) what 
year should a levy on SUP beverage cups (of any scope) be introduced? (select one)

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026+
Other 

If ‘other’ please explain below

If a levy were to be introduced on SUP beverage cups (including plastics or bioplastics) what 
level should it be set at? (select one)

£0.10-£0.24
£0.25-£0.49
£0.50-£0.74
£0.75-£1.00
Other 

If ‘other’ please explain below

3.1.3	 Voluntary retailer-led scheme

A voluntary retailer-led scheme could be initiated and set up by the retail sector. Some 
organisations might choose to work together as part of a joint initiative, although they might 
follow different plans in their aims to reduce the usage of SUP beverage cups. A voluntary 
scheme might see retailers adding a charge to the SUP beverage cup, or offering incentives for 
customers to use alternatives, for example. 

Page 46



Page 21

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

A good example of a voluntary scheme is Ireland’s Conscious Cup campaign, a non-profit 
organisation started in 2016 by a group of concerned individuals who, inspired by similar 
initiatives of cafes and citizens around the world, are aiming to reduce and eventually eliminate 
single-use cups in Ireland. Their goal is to eliminate single-use in the Cafe and Food to Go 
sector by encouraging cafes and other outlets to incentivise customers to bring their own.

Do you believe a voluntary scheme for SUP beverage cups, of any form, would be effective in 
meeting the goal of a significant reduction in SUP cup use?

Yes
No (If answered no, do not complete next two quations)

What design of voluntary scheme would be successful in terms of administration, monitoring, 
and applications?

What are the key elements for a successful voluntary scheme for SUP beverage cups? (select 
all that apply)

The ability to in some way enforce signatories to enact the agreement
For either internal or external monitoring to be conducted
For a significant amount of the affected organisations (by sales volume) to be 
signed up
A consumer facing communications campaign explaining the purpose and aims of 
the agreement
For the agreement to contain agreed action for all signatories to undertake
For signatories to the agreement to have flexibility in achieving the aims of the 
agreement
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

3.2	 SUP food containers
The results of the impact assessment on the number of SUP food containers used per year up 
to 2035 are summarised in the line graph at Figure 7. This shows that both the ban and the levy 

Page 47



Page 22

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

have a similar impact on the reduction in the usage of food containers. The voluntary scheme 
has a slower trajectory but may perform similarly to the other two options by 2025 if the voluntary 
scheme has significant uptake across all retailers and continues for the whole period.

Once again, Figure 8 shows a dramatic reduction in the number of SUP food containers used in 
the period up to 2035 with either the ban or levy options. Over the period to 2035, the baseline 
(do nothing) usage is approximately 2.2 billion containers used. The ban achieves reductions 
of around 146 million total containers and the levy leads to a reduction of approximately 160 
million total containers used over the period. The voluntary scheme also leads to a reduction to 
approximately 275 million containers used over the period. 

Figure 7

Figure 8

Page 48



Page 23

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Figure 9 shows the impact on land litter of the various scenarios. Once again, both the ban and 
levy have a similar impact, with a reduction to almost zero after the first year, and the voluntary 
scheme meeting the same reduction by 2025. Whilst the baseline scenario sees land litter rise 
slightly. Figure 10 shows the overall reduction in SUP food containers in land litter up to 2035 
and the ban and levy have a very positive impact, with the voluntary scheme, if widely applied, 
very close behind.

Figure 9

Figure 10

Page 49



Page 24

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Figures 11 and 12 show similar results on the impact on marine litter. The ban and the levy have 
the greatest and most immediate impact in Figure 11, with the voluntary scheme potentially 
achieving a similar reduction by 2025. Figure 12 shows that both the ban and the levy have very 
similar impact on the reduction of marine litter, with well under 1 million items found, with the 
voluntary scheme close behind.

Over its life span the IA predict a levy on Scope 1 food containers would raise around £1.4 
million pounds reaching a maximum of around £0.7 million pounds in the 2022 year and falling 
to £0 in 2025 onwards with the elimination of SUP food containers. The ban and voluntary 
scheme policy options would raise no funds as they do not contain a levy element. The statistics 
assume that the ban, levy or voluntary scheme would begin 1 January 2022 for the purposes of 
modelling.

Figure 11

Figure 12

Page 50



Page 25

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

A key assumption in the IA is the availability of SUNP alternatives to SUP food containers, 
especially the date at which they will become widely available. The model is particularly sensitive 
to the availability of these alternatives as it impacts when SUP food container consumption can 
be replaced outside of the use of multiuse food containers which are assumed to only be used 
by a minority of the population even in 2035.

In your view, if no policies or measures were to be introduced, what is the earliest date that the 
market might develop and supply SUNP (including plastic lining) food containers? (select one)

They are already available
The market would not develop and supply SUNP food containers
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026+
Don’t know
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

Please describe the SUNP food container that is already available. (Only answer if ‘they are 
already available’ was selected for the previous question)

Page 51



Page 26

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

What types of food containers should be targeted by the proposed measures? (select all that 
apply)

Takeaway food containers (food containers provided with meals purchased to take 
of the premises)
Pre-filled food containers
Self-fill food containers (food containers that the customers fill themselves before 
purchase e.g. at a salad bar)
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

3.2.1	 Ban

If a ban were introduced, it could be introduced gradually, with SUP food containers phased 
out over a period of time. A single date for an outright ban could also be considered, to give all 
parties time to prepare.

If a ban on SUP food containers were introduced how should the ban be implemented? (select 
one)

Fully implemented from the outset
Phased in over 6 months
Phased in over 1 year
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

Page 52



Page 27

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Is there an alternative method of introducing the ban, not mentioned in this consultation?
Yes
No

If ‘yes’ please explain

In what year should a ban on SUP food containers be introduced? (select 1 option for 
each row, put cross in selected box)

Takeaway 
food 
containers 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later

Pre-filled 
food 
containers

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later

Self-fill food 
containers 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later

3.2.2	 Levy

A levy could be introduced on all SUP food containers. It is proposed that the levy should take 
the form of a charge that is visible to the consumer - so it would be shown on menus, receipts or 
similar. The levy would be introduced from a set date to be determined. From that date forwards, 
the levy would apply. Consumers could choose to pay the levy or opt instead to use a MU 
container or SUNP alternative, provided by the retailer. The levy charge is suggested at 50p per 
SUP food container. 

Page 53



Page 28

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

If a levy on SUP food containers were introduced what level should it be set at? (select one)
£0.25-£0.49
£0.50-£0.74
£0.75-£0.99
£1.00-£1.24
£1.25-£1.50
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

Effectively, a levy on pre-filled SUP food containers places the emphasis on change with the 
producer, as the consumer has no choice but to accept the levy if they wish to purchase the food 
and there is no clear way to place the levy directly on the consumer. The only way for pre-filled 
containers to ‘offer alternatives’ is for the producer to make the change to SUNP. This means a 
levy on pre-filled SUP food containers would not be as visible to consumers and there may not 
be the opportunity for consumer to change their own behaviour.

Would a levy be effective in reducing the consumption of pre-filled plastic food containers?
Yes
No
Don’t know

How could a levy on pre-filled plastic food containers be implemented in terms of scheme 
administration, monitoring, and applications? (Only answer if ‘yes’ was selected for the previous 
question)

Why would a levy on pre-filled SUP food containers be ineffective? (Only answer if ‘no’ was 
selected for the previous question)

Page 54



Page 29

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Would a levy on producers be more or less effective in reducing consumption of SUP 
packaging than a levy on consumers? (select one)

More
The same
Less
Don’t know

3.2.3	 Voluntary retailer-led scheme

A voluntary retailer-led scheme could be initiated and set up by the retail sector. Some 
organisations might choose to work together as part of a joint initiative, although they might 
follow different plans in their aims to reduce the usage of SUP food containers. A voluntary 
scheme might see retailers adding a charge to the SUP food containers, or offering incentives 
for customers to use alternatives, for example. 

National retailers are also beginning to introduce more loose and unwrapped produce to reduce 
single-use plastic packaging. Consumers can, for example, bring their own refillable container, 
use retailer-provided containers (e.g. paper bags) or purchase and take home items without 
using packaging at all.

Asda successfully ran a trial of its ‘Refill Zone’ at a store in Leeds, where shoppers can buy 
loose and unpackaged items. The scheme is now being extended to more Asda stores. Marks 
and Spencer has introduced its ‘Fill Your Own’ trial to 11 of its stores, including its Lisburn store. 
Results from Waitrose’s 11-week ‘Unpacked’ refill trial in 2019, found that 98% of single-use 
packaging was eliminated across the 200 products in their trial, and that all plastic packaging 
(including single-use and re-usable) was reduced by 83%. The scheme also proved popular with 
consumers and has been extended to more Waitrose stores.

Do you believe a voluntary scheme for SUP food containers, of any form, would be effective in 
meeting the proposed reductions?

Yes
No

If ‘yes’ what design of voluntary scheme would be successful in terms of scheme 
administration, monitoring, and applications?

Page 55



Page 30

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

What are the key elements for a successful voluntary scheme for SUP food containers? (select 
all that apply)

The ability to in some way enforce signatories to enact the agreement
For either internal or external monitoring to be conducted
For a significant amount of the effected organisations (by sales volume) to be 
signed up
A consumer facing communications campaign explaining the purpose and aims of 
the agreement
For the agreement to contain agreed action for all signatories to undertake
For signatories to the agreement to have flexibility in achieving the aims of the 
agreement
Other

If ‘other’ please enter below

3.3	 Preferred approach
This consultation proposes a number of options to tackle the increase of SUP beverage cups 
and food containers. It summarises the findings of the modelling which was done to analyse 
each option. The aim of the consultation is to seek views on the most effective way to ensure 
a sustained and substantial reduction in SUP beverage cups and food containers. With this in 
mind:

Do you agree with the results of the modelling? (one per row)
Cups Yes No
Food containers Yes No
If ‘no’ for cups please explain here

If ‘no’ for food containers please explain here

Page 56



Page 31

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

What is your preferred option to meet the proposed reductions? (one per row)
Cups Ban Levy Voluntary 

scheme
Other 

Food containers Ban Levy Voluntary 
scheme

Other 

Cups ‘other’ please specify

Food containers ‘other’ please specify

Please describe why this is your preferred option for cups. 

Please describe why this is your preferred option for food containers. 

3.4	 Administration and enforcement
What should the proposed measures include to be successful/effective? (select all that apply)

Penalties for non-compliance, for example, fines
Provision of clear guidance on, scope, obligations, actions etc…
Creation of a scheme administrator/regulator
Provision of independent monitoring
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

Page 57



Page 32

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

Who should monitor the impact of the measures? (select only one) 
DAERA
The Northern Ireland Environment Agency (NIEA)
An independent organisation (e.g., a charity)
A newly created public body
The companies affected
Don’t know
Other

If ‘other’ please explain below

If a levy were adopted how should any funds raised from the collection of levies be distributed? 
(Please pick only 3 including ‘other’)

Regulation and enforcement of the measures
Waste reduction initiatives
Litter campaigns
To encourage recycling
Wildlife/ecological initiatives
SUP reduction activities
Other 

If ‘other’ please explain below

Page 58



Page 33

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

4	 Summary and conclusion

Officials will use the results of this consultation to guide final policy decisions.

There is renewed emphasis on minimising the use of SUP in line with the UK Government’s 	
25-year Environmental Plan. Promotion of a greater awareness by members of the public in NI of 
their environment and how we all use and dispose of our natural resources must be paramount 
in our thinking at both local and global levels. While the NI Assembly work primarily for everyone 
in NI we also must consider global environmental concerns and as such “Act Locally, Think 
Globally”.

5	 How to respond to this consultation

Responses are invited via Citizen Space at: https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/consultations

By email via: epgni@daera-ni.gov.uk 

Or by post to: �SUP and Waste Legislation Team, 

		  Klondyke, Cromac Avenue, 

		  Gasworks Business Park, Lower Ormeau Road, 

		  Belfast, BT7 2JA.

We would encourage an online response in order to limit any environmental impact. 

Those Affected: This is a public consultation, open to all who may have an interest and 
who wish to be part of improving the environmental impact of SUP beverage cups and food 
containers. It is hoped that many will take an interest in this consultation and provide feedback. 
Retailers, producers, those involved in environmental issues, local authorities and members of 
the public. All views are welcomed by the Department. 

Duration: This consultation will run for a period of 8 weeks. It will open on 18 October 2021 
and close on 17 December 2021. 

Page 59

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/consultations
mailto:epgni%40daera-ni.gov.uk?subject=


Page 34

Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic Beverage Cups and Food Containers

5.1 	 After the consultation 
Confidentiality: The Department will publish a summary of responses following completion of 
the consultation process. Your response and all other responses to the consultation, may be 
disclosed on request. The Department can refuse to disclose information only in exceptional 
circumstances. Before you submit your response, please read the paragraphs below on the 
confidentiality of consultations and they will give you guidance on the legal position about 
any information given by you in response to this consultation. Any confidentiality disclaimer 
generated by your IT system in e-mail responses will not be treated as such a request. 

Data Protection: Section 8(e) of the Data Protection Act 2018 permits processing of personal 
data when necessary for an activity that supports or promotes democratic engagement. 
Information provided by respondents to this consultation exercise will be held and used for 
the purposes of the administration of this current exercise and subsequently disposed of in 
accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK General Data Protection 
Regulation.

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 gives the public a right of access to any information held 
by a public authority (the Department in this case). This right of access to information includes 
information provided in response to a consultation. The Department cannot automatically 
consider as confidential information supplied to it in response to a consultation. However, it 
does have the responsibility to decide whether any information provided by you in response to 
this consultation, including information about your identity, should be made public or treated as 
confidential. 

This means that information provided by you in response to the consultation is unlikely to be 
treated as confidential, except in very particular circumstances. 

The Lord Chancellor’s Code of Practice on the Freedom of Information Act provides that: 

	 •� the Department should only accept information from third parties in confidence if it 
is necessary to obtain that information in connection with the exercise of any of the 
Department’s functions and it would not otherwise be provided; 

	 • �the Department should not agree to hold information received from third parties ‘in 
confidence’ which is not confidential in nature; 

	 • �acceptance by the Department of confidentiality provisions must be for good reasons, 
capable of being justified to the Information Commissioner. 

	 • �For further information about confidentiality of responses, please contact the Information 
Commissioner’s Office: 

		  Email: ni@ico.org.uk 

		  Website: Information Commissioner’s Office 

Page 60

mailto:ni%40ico.org.uk%20?subject=


DMS 21.22.130

Alternative Formats

This document is also available on the DAERA website at:

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/consultations/consultation-reduction-single-use-plastic-
beverage-cups-and-food-containers

You can request a copy of this document in other formats, such as: 

	 • Paper Copy

	 • Large Print

	 • Braille

	 • Other languages

To get a copy of this document in another format contact:

	 Single Use Plastic and Waste Legislation Team

	 Email: epgni@daera-ni.gov.uk

 

Page 61

https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/consultations/consultation-reduction-single-use-plastic-beverage-cups-and-food-containers
https://www.daera-ni.gov.uk/consultations/consultation-reduction-single-use-plastic-beverage-cups-and-food-containers
mailto:epgni%40daera-ni.gov.uk?subject=


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

Agenda Item 2d
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE  

 
 
 

 
Subject: Proposal for dual language street signs on Clifton Street 

 
Date: 11th January 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: Ian Harper, Building Control Manager 

 
Contact Officer: Roisin Adams, Business Coordinator 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

 
1.1 

 

To consider the dual language street sign application for Clifton Street. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1  The Committee is asked to:  

 consider the report and decide to approve or refuse the application based upon the 

updated survey results 

3.0 Main report 

 

 

3.1 

 

Key Issues 

 

Background 

 

 X  

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 77

Agenda Item 3a



3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

3.6 

 

    

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Clifton Street dual language street sign application was considered under the existing 

Street Naming and Numbering policy.  

 

Policy: 

 

For the Clifton Street application, based on the information taken from the electoral register, 

and site checks of commercial properties, 12 surveys were originally issued, to both 

residential and commercial properties.  10 were hand delivered.  2 survey forms were posted 

through Royal Mail as they could not be hand delivered due to no letter box or no one present.   

 

 

On review of the processing of this application, it was noted that two occupiers who had 

signed the initial petition had not been surveyed as their properties were deemed to be 

vacant  at the time officers carried out their physical inspection of the street.  However, it now 

appears they are in fact occupied. 

 

At the committee meeting on 9th November members agreed to survey these two occupiers 

and asked that a report be brought back to December committee.  

 

Survey forms were hand delivered to these two properties, with an explanation on the survey 

to confirm the decision of committee, and that these surveys were being carried out without 

prejudice, pending ratification at December council meeting.   

 

At December committee members agreed to defer considering the application until the 

deadline for the surveys to be returned had passed and the results finalised. The deadline 

has passed and of the two additional surveys, one survey form was returned, and one was 

not.  These occupier’s preferences are reflected in the revised percentage totals in the report.  

 

In addition, following the agreement at the committee meeting on 9th November a survey 

form was also re-issued by post to the secretary of Belfast Orange Hall, a property on the 

street. This property was originally surveyed by post and was declared a non-return and 

therefore the occupiers were deemed not be in favour of a dual language street sign in 

accordance with the policy. This survey has since been returned and is reflected in the 

revised percentage totals.   

 

 

 

 

Page 78



3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Application details:  

 

English Name Non- English 

Name 

Location Applicant Persons 

surveyed 

Clifton Street 

 

Sráid Clifton 

  

Between 

Carrick Hill, 

BT1 and 

Carlisle Circus 

BT14 

Carrick Hill 

Residents 

Association 

14 

 

The translation was authenticated by Queens University, the approved translator for Belfast 

City Council. 

 

Results for survey carried out for Clifton Street 

 

In accordance with the Council’s policy for the erection of dual language street signs surveys 

of all persons appearing on the Electoral Register plus owners or tenants in actual 

possession of commercial premises carried out and the following responses were received. 

 

A revised number of 14 surveys have now been issued in total, 12 hand delivered and 2 

posted using Royal Mail. The revised results are: 

 

 9 occupiers (64.3%) were in favour of the erection of a second street nameplate 

 1 occupier (7.1%) had no preference either way 

 2 occupiers (14.3%) were not in favour of the erection of a second nameplate 

 2 occupiers (14.3%) did not respond to the survey 

 

The Council’s policy on the erection of a second street nameplate establishes a threshold of 

two thirds (66.6%) of the occupiers on the street surveyed being in favour of the proposal is 

sufficient to erect a second street sign in a language other than English.  

 

In this instance 64.3% of occupiers were in favour of erection of dual language street signs. 

The Committee does have discretion in exceptional circumstances to approve an application 

notwithstanding the fact that the threshold is not met. On 17th December officers wrote to 

the applicant to advise that the application does not meet the two thirds threshold and has 

been asked whether there are any exceptional circumstances which warrant departure from 

the policy. The applicant has responded to confirm that there are no exceptional 

circumstances in relation to this application.   Members will be aware that a new street naming 

Page 79



 

 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.16 

 

 

 

 

 

3.17 

 

 

 

 

 

3.18 

 

dual language policy is currently being consulted on and that the threshold under that policy 

would be met. 

 

Provision of street signs 

 

The practice on siting the street signs is to identify those that exist on the street, and these 

are either added to or replaced to reflect the street name in a second language, as approved.  

The position of the street signs on Clifton Street are as follows: 

 

 Junction with North Queen Street – on metal railings 

 Junction of Westlink on-slip (north) – wall mounted to bridge 

 Junction of Westlink on-slip (south) – wall mounted to bridge 

 A sign on railings at the junction with Carlisle Circus was damaged and is not 

currently in place. 

 

If Committee were minded to exercise its discretion to grant this application, as per standard 

practice the dual language street signs would be erected at the locations at which the current 

street signs are located. Committee will note that none of the existing street sign locations 

set out in paragraph 3.14 are on or immediately beside the Belfast Orange Hall building. 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

There is a cost of approximately £450 to cover the cost of the manufacturing and erection of 

the dual language street signs in the current locations. The cost for these street signs has 

been allowed for in the current budget.  

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

 

There are no direct equality/rural needs implications. 

 

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached  
 

 None 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

 

 

 

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Avian Influenza Waterworks Park 

 
Date: 11 January 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: Ryan Black, Director of Neighbourhood Services  

 
Contact Officer: Stephen Leonard Neighbourhood Services Manager  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 

 

 

Avian Bird Flu is an issue across the UK, ROI and continental Europe. The disease has 

been identified in wild birds at six locations in Northern Ireland, including the Waterworks.   

DAERA and the Public Health Agency have updated advice to landowners and the general 

public to avoid contact with wild birds, and in particular dead and dying birds, bird faeces 

and practice good personal hygiene.  This report provides an overview to members of the 

work undertaken by the Council in respect the outbreak of Avian Influenza (AI) in wild 

aquatic birds at the Waterworks. 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 Note this update. 

 

X  

 

 

 

 

 

X 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4a



 

 

3.0 Main report 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

UPDATE WATERWORKS PARK 

 

Following confirmation by DAERA of the presence of Avian Influenza in wild birds at the 

Waterworks park, the Council carried out a risk assessment, with input from an avian expert 

in order to inform appropriate response measures. In addition to this, the Council liaised 

with both DAERA and PHA in order to ensure that our approach is in line with government 

advice. The Council is satisfied that it is, and has been meeting all of our obligations as 

landowner of the Waterworks in this scenario.  

 

In an effort to contain the spread of the AI and on advice from DAERA sick birds were not 

removed from the site. As part of our response to the outbreak we made provision for a vet 

to visit the site daily to monitor the birds and assess any sick birds that have been observed 

by our parks staff. If it is deemed necessary by the vet, the birds are euthanised on site.  

 

The Council has undertaken an audit of the birds on site, and ongoing monitoring of the site 

includes Council staff carrying out daily counts, and monitoring numbers of wild birds, in 

accordance with the recommendation from our risk assessment, and with advice from our 

avian expert.  

 

We have also taken additional steps to ensure the birds welfare needs are being met. This 

includes supplementary feeding as required, in recognition of the fact that the park was 

closed to the public and therefore they were not feeding the birds. In order to prevent any 

further spread of AI within and across sites, it was necessary to restrict public access to 

shield the public from dead and / or dying birds. 

 

The public were advised that if they encountered a bird that they suspect has come from a 

Council site they should contact the Council’s Customer Hub in the first instance for advice. 

Signage was in place at all Council sites that have wild aquatic birds. This provides details 

of the Customer Hub and asks members of the public to refrain from feeding the birds.  

 

Our staff have and continue to work hard to implement the recommendations of our risk 

assessment and are working hard in the background to look after the welfare of the birds 

and prevent the spread of AI. 

 

Page 82



 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The AI outbreak remains active and Council officers or our contracted agencies are unable 

to prevent or predict how the disease will impact the remaining resident bird population at 

the site, and currently we have no way of shielding or segregating the bird population from 

park users.   Until the bird flu outbreak is brought under control and/or runs its course there 

remains a high possibility that birds at the park will continue to become ill and display 

symptoms, which we are aware has been distressing for members of the public.  

  

Members will be aware that the Waterworks park remained closed over the holiday period 

and at the time of writing the report (4th January 2022) there had been no further reported 

bird deaths at the site and officers were making arrangements to liaise with our 

independent expert to update our risk assessment with a view to re-opening the park. A 

further update will be provided to members at the People and Communities meeting. 

 

 

MANAGAING AVIAN INFLUENZA OUTBREAK 

 

Council Officers have liaised with DAERA who have advised that they have activated 

emergency structures in response to the Avian Influenza outbreak.  Their work has 

focussed on disease control/eradication primarily in the livestock sector.  Their engagement 

re wildlife (wild aquatic birds) is for surveillance purposes.  In terms of animal welfare 

DAERA takes the lead regarding farm animals, councils lead re companion animals, PSNI 

lead on wildlife crime but no agency has a specific role re the welfare of wildlife. 

 

While no legal opinion has been taken there may be an understanding that on public land 

the landowner only takes responsibility for animal welfare if they feed/restrain/display or 

include them as part of their offering.  It is recognised that public perception however may 

differ in respect of this.  

 

DAERA have updated their advice to the public and landowners in respect of the handling 

of dead birds.  The council disposes of all dead birds in accordance with DAERA and PHA 

advice and all Health & Safety risk assessments have been updated to reflect DAERA and 

PHA advice.  Biosecurity measures are in place for staff handling dead birds and for any 

person or vehicle accessing and egressing the site.  Further measures will be implemented 

when the park is re-opened. 

 

Page 83



 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

 

The PHA’s role is when a person is confirmed to have been exposed to a confirmed Avian 

Influenza case to put health surveillance in place. They have also provided the public 

guidance not to handle dead birds.  PHA are engaged in the national risk assessment and 

the risk to public health re Avian Influenza as this is a UK wide programme.  The risk to 

human health is very low and transmission from animals to humans has never happened in 

Europe and has only occurred in small numbers in Asian regions where contact 

arrangements would differ e.g. wet markets, prolonged contact.   

 

Avian Influenza has however got a high mortality rate – so early identification enables 

better outcomes for the individual.  PHA will undertake a risk assessment when a lab 

confirmed AI case has been handled by an individual without suitable safeguards.  In 

general, there has been no requirement to close parks in the UK on public health grounds – 

the emphasis is on not touching the birds, and if dead birds are awaiting collection to 

consider park management arrangements.  Activities on the water do not have to be 

stopped unless there is visible evidence of significant faecal matter.  Signage and access to 

good hand hygiene are the key messages. 

 Financial & Resource Implications 

3.14 Operational arrangements can be accommodated within existing revenue budgets.  

 Equality or Good Relations Implications / Rural Needs Assessment 

3.15 There is no identified equality impact, this will be continually reviewed.  

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached  

 None  

 

Page 84



 

 
PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: WRAP Better Recycling Campaign Grant Scheme   

 
Date: Tuesday 11th January 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: Ryan Black –Director of Neighbourhood Services 

 
Contact Officer: 

Margaret Higgins – Lead Officer – Community Provision 
Caroline Briggs/Judith Greene - Community Awareness Managers 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the WRAP Better Recycling Campaign 

Grant Scheme and note that an application has been made.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 Note that an application has been made to the WRAP Better Recycling Campaign 

Grant Scheme  

3.0 Main report 

3.1 

 

 

 

Key Issues  

On behalf of DAERA, WRAP is currently delivering the Better Recycling consumer behaviour 

change campaign to support DAERA’s aims to normalise recycling behaviours and increase 

household recycling rates to pre – pandemic levels.  

 X  

 

 

 

 

x  

Page 85

Agenda Item 5a



3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

3.9 

WRAP announced a grant scheme to support Councils to deliver additional coverage of the 

Better Recycling Campaign. Councils could apply for the funding at a rate of £350 per 10,000 

households which would equate to approximately £5,425 for Belfast City Council which 

recipients are expected to provide match funding for the projects through costs incurred. The 

application closed on the 15th December 2021.  

 

Proposal 

The Better Recycling Campaign message complements the council’s recycling message. 

Officers made an application for the grant available which included a proposal to use a 

combination of advertising formats to maximise coverage to households in Belfast and to 

target people during all aspects of their daily life.  

 

Six sheet panels at bus stops and outside local newsagents and convenience stores will 

target people in their local area. Online advertising will support the outdoor campaign and 

target people in their homes.  Internet usage has increased by 68% during the pandemic and 

is therefore a very effective advertising platform for this campaign. Online advertising also 

allows us to trace campaign performance and audience engagement.  

 

We will also deliver posts on our Belfast City Council social media platforms and boost the 

posts to target a Belfast City Council audience. 

 

The combination of these 3 advertising platforms will complement each other and allow us to 

deliver repetition of campaign message to increase our coverage to the target audience of 

Belfast households. 

 

The campaign will run for 2 weeks, from 28 February – 13 March 2022. All evidence of spend 

must be submitted to WRAP by 15th March 2022 
  

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

Required match funding will be met from within the existing Waste Education budget 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no equality or good relations implications in this report 

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached 

 None  

 
 

Page 86



 

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

 
Subject: BugLife Belfast’s Buzzing Project 

 
Date: 11th January 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: Ryan Black, Director of Neighbourhood Services 

 
Contact Officer: Orla Maguire, Biodiversity Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Some time in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 

 

The purpose of the report is for Members to consider a request from BugLife Northern 

Ireland for the Council to support a funding application to the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF).   

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Members’ views are sought on the request from BugLife to support and grant them 

permission: 

 for project work to occur on Council land and that Council will manage these project 

sites for the next ten years, maintaining their biodiversity value,  

 for £5,000 funding contribution to the project, from existing resources 

 

Members are advised that, if successful, a partnership agreement outlining roles and 

responsibilities will be developed. 

 

 

 

 

 

x  

X  

Page 87

Agenda Item 5b



3.0 Main report 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

Key Issues 

 

Insect pollination is essential to food production. ‘One out of every 3 mouthfuls’ is pollinated 

by insects.  Wild bees pollinate between 85-95% of the UK’s insect pollinated crops, while 

honeybees pollinate between 5-15%. This free service is estimated to be worth £1.8 billion 

each year.  

 

More than half of our bee species have suffered declines over the past 50 years with 

over 250 UK pollinators in danger of extinction. Habitat loss is a major driver of 

pollinator declines and in Northern Ireland we have lost as much as 97% of our 

wildflower meadows in the last half century. 

 

Over the past year, Buglife have worked closely with several stakeholders including Belfast 

City Council, National Trust, Belfast Hills Partnership, Lagan Valley Regional Park and 

others to develop the Belfast’s Buzzing project with the shared goal of creating and 

restoring wildflower-rich habitats across Belfast. 

 

This 2-year project will address the catastrophic decline in pollinating insects by 

significantly increasing the amount of connected wildflower-rich habitats across Belfast.  

 

“Belfast’s Buzzing” project aims to promote insect pollinators in parks and open spaces as 

well as inform, inspire and engage local communities in the recovery of nature within their 

local area.  

 

In partnership with Belfast City Council, and working with landowners, schools, community 

groups and other NGOs, the project will restore 15 hectares of publicly accessible sites for 

pollinators and inspire landowners to restore a further 5-10 hectares of their sites. 

 

Potential sites for habitat restoration, creation and enhancement works have been 

identified including some Council sites for some of our most threatened bee species.  

 

Belfast’s Buzzing will provide an interesting and fun opportunity for local people and 

communities to learn about the importance of pollinators and their habitats and to get 

involved in enhancing their local parks and open spaces.  

 

Page 88



3.9 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

The training and support provided by the project will also allow Belfast City Council to 

restore and enhance habitats and manage sites in a sensitive manner for pollinators, aiding 

delivery of local biodiversity initiatives such as the City of Wildflowers and the Rewilding our 

Wards Notice of Motion. 

 

BugLife are in the final stages of submitting an application to the HLF and are seeking 

support from Council.  If Members are minded to support the request, Council would be 

agreeing to: 

 permission for project work to occur on BCC land and that Council will manage 

these project sites for the next ten years, maintaining their biodiversity value 

(e.g. cut and lift wildflower meadows). 

 £5,000 funding contribution to the project. 

 work with Buglife promoting Belfast’s Buzzing across the city through our 

various communication channels. 

 

A provisional letter of support has been provided to HLF subject to member approval at 

Appendix 1. 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

BCC is asked to contribute £5,000 funding to draw down significant investment in BCC 

sites.  This money would be funded form within existing revenue estimates. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no known implications with this report.  

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached  

 Appendix 1:  BugLife letter of support for Belfast’s Buzzing Project. 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Belfast City Council, City and Neighbourhood Services Department 

The Cecil Ward Building, 4-10 Linenhall Street, Belfast BT2 8BP 

Tel: 028 9091 8705    

Telephone for people who are deaf or hearing impaired: 028 9027 0405 

Email: grimshawn@belfastcity.gov.uk 

 

City and Neighbourhood Services Department  
 
 
Our ref:  
    
Your ref: 
 

Date:  3 December 2021 

 
   

 

Dear Anna 
 
" Belfast’s Buzzing! Creating B-Lines for pollinators and people ". 
 
I am writing on behalf of Belfast City Council in support of the proposed “Belfast’s Buzzing” 
project which aims to promote insect pollinators in parks and Open Spaces.  
 
We believe the Belfast’s Buzzing project would be of particular benefit to the biodiversity of 
Belfast through improved pollinator habitat, benefitting rare and threatened species and 
supporting other wildlife.   
 
Belfast’s Buzzing will provide an interesting and fun opportunity for local people and 
communities to learn about the importance of pollinators and their habitats and to get involved 
in enhancing their local parks and open space.  The training and support provided by the 
project will also allow Belfast City Council to restore and enhance habitats and manage sites in 
a sensitive manner for pollinators thus aiding delivery of local biodiversity initiatives. 
 
In principle subject to member approval and ratification at February Council I can confirm 
Belfast City Council provides  

• permission for project work to occur on Council land and that Council will manage these 
project sites for the next ten years, maintaining their biodiversity value.  

• £5,000 funding contribution to the project. 
 
Project proposals will be agreed in advance with Council Managers and stakeholders.  We are 
willing to discuss further opportunities to contribute to this project including in-kind contributions 
of staff time and machinery.  The Council will work with BugLife and The Heritage lottery Fund 
to promote and advertise the project through our various communication channels. 
 
If you require further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

 

Yours sincerely 
 
 

Ryan Black 

Director of City & Neighbourhood Services 

Page 91

mailto:grimshawn@belfastcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
 

 
Subject: Update on education around responsible dog ownership 

 
Date: 11 January 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: 

Siobhan Toland, Director of City Services  
Lisa Caldwell, Head of Corporate Communications 

 
Contact Officer: Aoife Moody, City Protection Manager  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 

 

The purpose of this report is to provide an overview, as requested by Members, on the 

amount spent on advertising on the education of responsible dog ownership, which helps to 

tackle the problem of dog fouling. The report also demonstrates the return on investment of 

advertising and how it sits with operational support to educate, advise and regulate this 

issue.  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 Note the overview provided as requested.  

3.0 Main report 

 

3.1 

 

Background 

Up until the 2019/20 financial year the marketing budget for department initiatives that 

required marketing and communication support was determined by and paid for by City and 

 

 

 

 

 

X   

X 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5c



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

Neighbourhood Services. Following the marketing and communications structural review 

and related centralisation of spend in 2018, spend is now determined by the marketing and 

communications function in consultation with the business area/ department.  

 

Previous campaign spends 

17/18 - £108,300 

18/19 - £57,680 

19/20 - £25,000 (Jan 2020) 

20/21 - £25,000 (Oct 2021) 

 

Campaign objectives/strategy 

The advertising objectives are to generate awareness and to tap into the need to act 

responsibly, as a dog owner, and to raise awareness of the fines related to enforcement. 

The key message is ‘Pick up or pay up, dog wardens are patrolling your area’ and to 

reduce the number of dog fouling incidents in our city and show our citizens that the council 

takes this issue seriously. We generally advertise in the winter months as there is an 

increase in dog fouling in the dark evenings and mornings.  

 

Media placement 

We use a combination of the following to deliver our messaging on dog fouling: 

 

 Radio to reach a large audience quickly and deliver repetition of message 

 Bus stops in residential areas and in close proximity to parks and schools, and ads 

outside newsagents to target dog walkers 

 External bus advertising to give an on-street presence and build awareness 

 Internal bus panels to target a captive commuter audience 

 Online advertising to target people at home 

 

Our advertising activity allows us to target all Belfast City Council residents during all 

aspects of their life – showing them that the council is addressing the dog fouling problem 

in their local area. 

 

Research 

Independent research undertaken by Cognisense in 2019 to evaluate the impact and 

awareness of the dog fouling campaign (17/18) reported a very low incidence of individuals 

admitting to having allowed their dog to foul in the last six months. 70% of those asked said 

Page 94



 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

they had seen the campaign.  The most prevalent area of recalled advertising was the “£80 

fine”. This level of ad recognition is well in excess of the relevant UK awareness norm. 

Overall prompted awareness was greater than seen in the previous 2017 research. 

External bus advertising was particularly prominently recalled (85%). 

 

Results from October 21 campaign 

We review all statistics during, and post campaign. We then feed findings into future 

planning.  

 

 Bus externals – 82% of Belfast adults saw our ad on average 3.4 times 

 Bus internals – 30,800 Belfast dog owners notice advertising inside a bus each 

week 

 www.belfasttelegrpah.co.uk delivered 320,000 impressions and 423 clicks (click 

through rate of 0.13% much higher than UK average of 0.13%) 

 Belfast Live and Daily Mirror online activity delivered 100,012 page impressions 

and 144 clicks (click through rate of 0.14%). 

 Panels at bus stops and newsagents - 73% of all adults in Belfast saw our ad on 

average 12.5 times. 

 Facebook – strong engagement rates 

 

In September 2021 there were 128 instances of illegal dog fouling incidents recorded (as 

part of the 5% random sampling of streets). In October 2021 this had decreased to 101 

incidents – a 22% decrease. (It should be noted that the second surveys for Central and 

City were not carried out due to illness in the section so this may have affected the figures 

recorded and may have contributed to the decrease in dog fouling incidents recorded). 

 

Dog Warden Service & Fouling Fines 

The Dog Warden Service operates from 08.00 hours to 20.00 hours seven days a week. The 

team consists of 12 dog wardens and 2 Supervisors. They work in teams of three, with two 

teams operating daily. Their work activities include:  

 Responding to service requests. 

 Investigation of complaints.  

 Investigation of dog attacks. 

 Detecting and dealing with straying or uncontrolled dogs.  

 Detecting and dealing with infringements of the legislation, including issuing notices.  

Page 95

http://www.belfasttelegrpah.co.uk/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 Preparing investigation/evidence files and court attendance where necessary.  

 Detecting and dealing with dogs prescribed under the Dangerous Dogs (NI) Order 

1991.  

 Collecting stray or unwanted dogs and taking them to the appropriate kennelling 

facility.  

 Making recommendations for enforcement action with regards to dog attacks and 

the imposition of control conditions. 

 Assessing conditions of dogs in our care, and dogs seen on properties and referring 

them to animal welfare where necessary. 

 Inspecting and making recommendations for the registration of breeding 

establishments and guard-dog kennels under the Welfare of Animals Act 2011.  

  Patrolling streets and public places. 

 

To detect owners who let their dog foul in public places and don’t pick up their mess, the dog 

wardens are deployed on routine monitoring patrols. However, securing detections is 

challenging and it is widely recognised that the problem of dog fouling cannot be addressed 

solely by enforcement intervention.  It requires a three-pronged approach which recognises 

the need to encourage behavioural change, supported by enforcement and underpinned by 

a regular cleansing regime. This service was impacted by COVID 19 restrictions but was 

partially recovered by August 2020 and has continued to resume most activities in the 

intervening period.  

 

In order to enhance the patrols undertaken by the Dog Wardens, the following operational 

arrangements have been reinstated:    

 

 The Dog Warden Supervisor and the Dog Wardens will liaise with the Area OSSS 

management teams and other enforcement staff in their respective areas to discuss 

priority areas and hotspots. 

 Scheduling of patrols most days at particular times has resumed in the last number of 

weeks, including early mornings and evenings when resources permit in response to 

complaints and/or information that identifies a ‘hot spot’.  

 

The table below indicates the level of enforcement activities relating to dog fouling offences 

within the last four years.  Covid-19 restrictions have impacted the number of fixed penalty 

notices issued for dog fouling in the last two years for a number of reasons. The public health 

Page 96



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

restrictions have impacted on staffing levels due to a number of officers having had to isolate 

due to contact with Covid or having tested positive for Covid. Due to concerns around 

contracting the virus, the teams had to approach individuals with caution and only where 

absolutely necessary. Also the general public when approached were reluctant to engage 

and sometimes hostile, due to fear of infection.  

 

 

Year Total Number of Dog Fouling Fines 

17-18 79 

18-19 62 

19-20 99 

20-21 YTD 14 

 

 

Other initiatives 

As part of our campaign monitoring, Corporate Communications review all social media 

comments and feed back to the department with information on parks and streets where 

dog fouling is a problem. One of the reoccurring messages was that the public did not see 

dog wardens on our streets. Dog wardens patrol in Belfast City Council marked vans, 

however at times they need to be discreet to enable them to detect offences. Therefore, we 

designed magnetic panels for their vans which can be attached when commuting from area 

to area and removed when required. 

There has also been a high level of messages on social media about dog fouling within our 

parks. To tackle this issue dog fouling related stencils were placed in 19 of our parks in the 

summer months. 

 

 

 

Whilst we recognise that marketing and communications alone does not eliminate and 

dramatically reducing dog fouling, what it does do is reinforce a message which needs high 

Page 97



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

3.14 

 

levels of awareness in order to try and influence behavioural change.  As per the research 

results mentioned above, our campaigns perform well in terms of advertising recall and 

reach the intended audience.  We also work closely with the department to determine “hot 

spot” areas which see high levels of dog fouling incidents and as such we are then able to 

target our messaging and advertising within these areas using the appropriate channels to 

do so.  As dog fouling is a behavioural trait it is vitally important that we continue to 

generate awareness of the issue and the consequences via ongoing marketing and 

communication support. 

 

Financial & Resource Implications 

There are no additional financial implications associated with this report. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no implications associated with this report. 

4.0 Appendices – Documents Attached  

 None 

 

 

Page 98


	Agenda
	2a Revenue Estimates and District Rate 2022/23
	2c Resources and Fleet Update (Waste Collections and Management)
	Appendix I Consultation for the Reduction of Single-Use Plastic
	Appendix II BCC Draft Response to SUP Consultations

	2d Update on Strategic Cemetery and Crematorium Development
	RESTRICTED Appendix 1 - Strategic Cemeteries  Crematorium Working Group Mins

	3a Item referred back - Erection of Dual Language Street Sign at Clifton Street
	4a Avian Influenza Waterworks Park
	5a WRAP Better Recycling Campaign Grant Scheme
	5b Belfast's Buzzing
	Belfast's Buzzing BCC Draft Letter of Support (1)

	5c Update on education around responsible dog ownership



